STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge
—————

RECEIVED

Mar 28 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

HEATHER MARIE LAWSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001806
—————

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

Breen Richard Stevens
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether Counsel provided constitutionally deficient assistance for failing to call the coroner, where the coroner's initial determination for cause of Minor 1's death was accident, and evidence existed in the record of multiple accidental strikes to Minor 1's head prior to the date of her death, yet where accident was not charged to the jury?

STATEMENT

Petitioner Heather Marie Lawson was indicted by the Lexington County grand jury on July 10, 2017, for homicide by child abuse. App. 859—App. 860. The charge stemmed from her alleged conduct on June 26, 2016, towards her infant daughter (Minor 1) at her mobile home in Redbank. App. 862. Specifically, on June 26, 2016, 911 was called at 5:18 pm by two people, including Petitioner, regarding the death of Minor 1. Firefighters and emergency medical services (EMS) arrived at 5:25 pm. App. 164, ln. 19—App. 167, ln. 9; App. 172, ll. 2-17. When first responders entered the home, Minor 1 was on the floor next to her “pack ‘n play” play pen. Upon examination, Minor 1 was unresponsive and had no pulse; she was taken to the hospital by ambulance. App. 183, ln. 7—App. 187, ln. 6; App. 197, ll. 19-25. She arrived at the hospital by 5:27 pm, but medical providers were unable to revive her. App. 205, ll. 1-11; App. 254, ll. 19-23; 255, ll. 7-16.

Petitioner was questioned in the emergency room of the hospital by Lexington County Sheriff's Office Detective Adam Creech (Det. Creech). App. 329, ln. 23—App. 331, ln. 24. Coroner Margaret Fisher (Coroner) arrived as well and was present when Petitioner repeated her recollection of events. App. 336, 8-19.

Based upon Petitioner's answers not addressing “the severity” of bruising on Minor 1's head, police sought to question her further at the sheriff's office. App. 340, ln 18—App. 341, ln. 7. Sergeant Traci Barr (Sgt. Barr) arrived at the hospital, and after conferring with Det. Creech took Petitioner with her to the station. App. 341, ll. 7-24; App. 438, ll. 1-16. At the police station, Petitioner provided a statement in writing during her interrogation by Sgt. Barr and Det. Creech that started at 9:21 pm and ended the next morning at 1:25 am, at which time Petitioner was arrested. App. 349, ll. 2-15; App. 352, ln. 19—App. 369, ln. 18; App. 440, ll. 15-25. Sgt.

Barr questioned Petitioner again on June 28th, 2016, at approximately 10:30 am at the sheriff's office. App. 445, ll. 3-20.

An autopsy was performed by Dr. Janice Ross. She determined the cause of death was likely blunt force trauma to the head. However, she could not rule out suffocation. App. 482, ll. 3-14; App. 502, ln. 2—App. 503, ln. 14.

The case proceeded to trial from August 7th through 10th, 2017, before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury. Petitioner was represented by Theo Williams (Counsel), while the State was represented by Suzanne Mayes and Robbie McNair. App. 1.

During pretrial motions, a hearing was held regarding the prior statements Petitioner made to law enforcement. All three statements were deemed admissible. App. 62, ln. 22—App. 63, ln. 22; App. 122, ln. 9—App. 123, ln. 19.

In his opening to the jury, Counsel acknowledged that Minor 1's head was hit when she fell from a box at the gas station, but conceded "that's not the reason why this child is dead now." App. 160, ll. 17-25. During trial, Petitioner's statements to police were admitted, revealing Minor 1's head was accidentally struck on several occasions through various mishaps leading up to her death. For example, evidence was admitted indicating Minor 1's head was hit on the following occasions from Thursday to Sunday—the date of the incident: (1) when Petitioner accidentally hit Minor 1's head twice on the door frame of the convenience store where Petitioner worked; (2) on the floor of the convenience store when Minor 1 accidentally fell from the box where she was located; (3) when Petitioner accidentally hit Minor 1's head as she put her in the car; (4) when Petitioner accidentally dropped Minor 1 into the pack 'n play as she attempted to lower her in; and (5) when one of Minor 1's siblings pushed her, and she hit her

head on a toy. App. 152, ll. 5-10; App. 359, ll. 4-9; App. 449, ll. 1-24 App. 452, ln. 8—App. 454, ln. 2; App. 462, ln. 1-24; App. 465, ll. 1-12.

Dr. Susan Luberoff also testified at Petitioner’s trial on behalf of the State. Her testimony included analysis of a video regarding Minor 1’s apparent good health and condition at the gas station, as well as the lack of impact from her fall there. App. 591, ln. 8—App. 595, ln. 5; App. 596, ln. 11-14. However, she also confirmed on cross-examination that the bruising from blunt force trauma on Minor 1 could have been caused by something other than a fist. App. 605, ll. 5-12.

In closing argument, Counsel pointed out that the State failed to call Coroner to testify. App. 7829, ll. 9-11; App. 731, ll. 22-24. Counsel also rejected the theory of accident in his closing argument. Specifically, Counsel asserted the following:

We’re not trying to slide into the death of this child by saying, well, that baby must have bumped his head and knowing mom, she was so slack, she didn’t take the child to the doctor, even though he threw up. That’s not what this case is about.

Are we saying that? That’s not the theory of this case. The theory of this case is somebody pummeled that child with fists.

App. 725, ll. 10-18. He further discounted the pathologist’s testimony and report that it could have been suffocation. App. 728, ln. 24—App. 729, ln. 2. The defense of accident was not charged to the jury. App. 737, ln. 12—App. 752, ln. 5. Petitioner was found guilty of homicide by child abuse, and the trial court sentenced her to life without parole. App. 755, ll. 17-21; App. 768, ll. 5-10.

Petitioner appealed. On April 29, 2020, the Court of Appeals dismissed the matter pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). Remittitur was sent June 10, 2020. App. 771—App. 773.

On September 14, 2020, Petitioner filed her application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 774. The State filed its return on March 1, 2021, and a hearing was held on April 7, 2023, before the Honorable Kristi Curtis. Petitioner was represented by Ashley McMahan, while the State was represented by T. Cruise Mitchell. App. 791—App. 792.

Petitioner testified, and asserted *inter alia* that Counsel never discussed trial strategy with her. App. 796, ll. 19-21; App. 803, ll. 18-22. Counsel also testified, and indicated Petitioner’s inconsistent statements “just made her look worse and worse.” App. 825, ll. 1-4. Counsel also acknowledged that, although Coroner initially determined Minor 1’s cause of death to be an accident, he did not call her as a witness. App. 829, ll. 5-25. His justification was as follows:

I think when the coroner got up there she was going to fall right in line with the other experts who testified. And she was easily explained—it could easily explain why she originally called it accidental.

App. 830, ll. 1-5. Counsel further agreed that he would have had to impeach his own witness if he called Coroner to testify. App. 830, ll. 6-8.

The PCR Court filed its Order of Dismissal on November 13, 2023. App. 844. As to the issue of whether Counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to call Coroner as a witness, the PCR Court held that Counsel articulated a reasonable trial strategy for not calling her. App. 846; App. 850. Specifically, the Court found that “[C]ounsel did not believe the coroner’s testimony would have been beneficial to the defense as he believed Coroner would have ultimately testified the death was a homicide.” App. 850. The PCR Court further determined Petitioner “failed to meet her burden of establishing prejudice in this regard” because Coroner did not provide testimony at the PCR hearing. App. 850. Accordingly, the PCR Court dismissed Petitioner’s application.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Counsel provided constitutionally deficient assistance for failing to call the coroner as a witness, where the coroner's initial determination for cause of Minor 1's death was accidental, and evidence existed in the record of multiple accidental strikes to Minor 1's head prior to the date of her death, yet where accident was not charged to the jury.

“A defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.” State v. Miller, 379 S.C. 108, 115, 665 S.E.2d 596, 599 (2008) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). Post-conviction relief is appropriate where it is shown that: “(1) counsel’s performance was deficient; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been different.” Id. Counsel’s performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 385 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Further, “[a] reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine the confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Miller, 379 S.C. at 115, 665 S.E.2d at 599 (quoting Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007)).

In the present case, Counsel’s failure to subpoena Coroner and call her as a witness in order to fully establish the potential defense of accident amounted to constitutionally deficient performance. See, e.g., Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 462-63, 670 S.C. 646, 650-51 (2008) (holding trial counsel ineffective for failing to subpoena and call a witness to trial whose testimony, in addition to petitioner’s, “would have significantly added to the credibility of petitioner’s case.”). Here, Coroner had already visited the hospital the night of June 26, 2016, and was engaged with investigators regarding Minor 1’s death and, as Counsel acknowledged before the PCR Court, Coroner’s initial assessment in Petitioner’s case was that Minor 1’s death was accidental. App. 336, 8-19; App. 829, ll. 5-25. When coupled with the Petitioner’s statements to law enforcement recounting multiple instances of Minor 1’s head being inadvertently struck in the days leading up to June 26th, such testimony likely would have

supported a jury instruction on the defense of accident under the any evidence standard. See, e.g., State v. Owens, 427 S.C. 325, 330-33, 831 S.E.2d 126, 128-30 (Ct. App. 2019) (discussing the elements and jury instructions for accident); see also Reeves v. State, 415 S.C. 366, 378, 782 S.E.2d 747, 753 (Ct. App. 2015) (finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to procure a witness who could have provided testimony regarding additional ways the victim’s injuries occurred—including accident—yet where the additional theories were not presented at trial). Yet Counsel failed to either subpoena Coroner, or call her as a witness after the State refused to do so. Under such circumstances, Counsel’s performance was constitutionally deficient. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068, 80 L.Ed.2d at 698.

Moreover, Counsel’s insistence that he still would not have called Coroner was an unreasonable trial strategy. Even if, as Counsel surmised, Coroner subsequently altered her position when called as a witness at trial based upon the opinions of others subsequent to her initial assessment, she would nonetheless still have to acknowledge that her first assessment of Minor 1’s cause of death was indeed accident. App. 830, ll. 1-5.

Additionally, the fact that Counsel might have had to impeach his own witness under the Rules of Evidence in order to compel Coroner’s testimony regarding her initial assessment is irrelevant. App. 830, ll. 6-8. Simply stated, the Rules of Evidence allow parties to fairly present evidence relevant to their case—including the defense-in-chief—before the jury “to the end that the truth may be ascertained and proceedings justly determined.” See, e.g., Rule 102, SCRE (“These rules shall be construed to secure fairness in administration, elimination of unjustifiable expense and delay, and promotion of growth and development of the law of evidence to the end that the truth may be ascertained and proceedings justly determined.”); Rules 401 & 402, SCRE (defining relevance, and providing that relevant evidence is generally admissible); Rule 613(b), SCRE (permitting extrinsic evidence of prior inconsistent statements if foundation is laid and the

witness denies previously making the statement). In other words, the specter of possible impeachment of one's own witness should not be viewed as an obstacle to the full and complete presentation of a defendant's case; to the contrary, when necessary, the use of rules compelling testimony from critical witnesses are tools to aid in presenting a defendant's full and complete defense to the jury. Accordingly, Counsel's explanation for refusing to call Coroner was objectively unreasonable, and the PCR Court's ruling to the contrary was erroneous. Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 474, 560 S.E.2d 401, 405 (2002) (citing Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995)) (finding trial counsel ineffective where his articulated strategy regarding testimony was objectively unreasonable); see also Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 334, 372 S.E.2d 590, 598 (2007).

Furthermore, the fact that Coroner did not testify at Petitioner's PCR hearing is immaterial to the issue of what Counsel failed to glean from her at trial: Coroner's initial determination of accident. The fact that Coroner initially determined Minor 1's death to be accidental was already known by Counsel prior to trial. Counsel admitted as much at the PCR hearing. App. 829, ll. 5-25; App. 830, ll. 1-5. In other words, this fact was never in question. Rather, the only question for purposes of PCR was whether Counsel effectively used that fact as part of a reasonable trial strategy. As discussed above, Counsel knew Coroner initially determined Minor 1's death to be accidental, yet unreasonably chose not to place this fact before the jury. Accordingly, the PCR Court's finding that Petitioner failed to "meet her burden of establishing prejudice in this regard," because she did not present testimony of "the coroner during the PCR hearing, or credible evidence of the potential testimony" is erroneous.

Finally, Petitioner was prejudiced by Counsel's constitutionally deficient performance, as the defense of accident was neither explored with Petitioner, nor presented to the jury to

consider. To the contrary, Counsel's stated defenses were "SODDIT,"¹ or that "we just don't know how [Minor 1] died." App. 834, ln. 19—App. 835, ln. 8. However, as Petitioner explained, Counsel did not discuss trial strategy with her.² App. 796, ll. 19-21; App. 803, ll. 18-22. Thus, even though Petitioner wanted it known that the last adult in the room with Minor 1 prior to death was Minor 1's father, such a position was still not exclusive to the possibility of accident. As such, Petitioner would not have been aware that she could still have asserted the defense of accident for the jury to consider. See Nixon, 543 U.S. at 187, 125 S.Ct. at 560.

Had Counsel consulted with Petitioner and fully explained all possible defense strategies, then the value of asserting an accident defense would have been both evident and compelling given Petitioner's statements to police divulging the litany of inadvertent head injuries Minor 1 received leading up to her death, coupled with Coroner's initial determination of accident. Counsel himself testified at PCR that Petitioner's statements "just made her look worse and worse." App. 825, ll. 1-4. Rather than using them to fuel a defense of accident on Petitioner's behalf, Counsel abandoned that approach, refused to call Coroner in support of it, and instead relied upon the burden of proof and the defense of "[s]ome other dude did it." As a result, an instruction on the defense of accident was neither sought by Counsel nor charged to the jury for consideration. Accordingly, Petitioner was prejudiced. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2068, 80 L.Ed.2d at 698.

¹ Counsel confirmed on cross-examination by the State that SODITT stood for the "[s]ome other dude did it" defense App. 834, ln. 23—App. 835, ln. 1.

² "An attorney undoubtedly has a duty to consult with the client regarding 'important decisions,' including questions of overarching defense strategy." Florida v. Nixon, 543 U.S. 175, 187, 125 S.Ct. 551, 560 (2004).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner Heather Lawson respectfully requests reversal of the PCR Court's order of dismissal, and that a new trial be granted.



Breen Richard Stevens
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER