STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Aug 12 2024

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2023-001806

HEATHER MARIE LAWSON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

T. CRUISE MITCHELL
S.C. Bar No. 105682
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Heather M. Lawson (“Petitioner”) is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Lexington County Clerk of Court. Applicant was arrested on June 27, 2016, following an investigation into the death over her seven-month-old child. During its July 2017 term, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for homicide by child abuse (2017-GS-32-2364).

On August 7, 2017, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. Robert Theo Williams, Esquire (Counsel) represented Applicant. Deputy Solicitor Suzanne Mayes and Assistant Solicitor Robert McNair of the Eleventh Circuit Solicitor’s Office prosecuted the case. Applicant was found guilty as indicted. On August 10, 2017, Judge McMahon sentenced Applicant to life imprisonment.

Applicant filed a timely notice of appeal. Appellate Defender Robert M. Pachak perfected Applicant’s appeal by filing an *Anders*¹ brief with the Court of Appeals on the following issues:

Whether the trial court erred in denying trial counsel’s motion for a directed verdict when the State failed to prove sufficient circumstantial evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that [Applicant] committed the crime of homicide by child abuse?

On April 29, 2020, the Court affirmed Applicant’s conviction and sentence. *State v. Lawson*, 2020-UP-120 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 29, 2020). The case was remitted back to the circuit court on June 10, 2020.

On September 14, 2020, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. Respondent made its return on or about March 1, 2021. An evidentiary hearing was convened on April 7, 2023, at the Lexington County Courthouse. Petitioner was present at the hearing and was

¹ *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

represented by Ashley A. McMahan, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Assistant Attorney General T. Cruise Mitchell, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. In an order filed November 13, 2023, the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis denied Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 26, 2016, two 911 calls were made at 5:18 p.m., one by Emily Graves and the other by Petitioner, requesting assistance at Weaver Drive in Lexington County. (App pp.165–166). Petitioner explained to the 911 operator that her infant daughter (Minor 1) was dead. (App. p.172). First responders from the Lexington Fire Department and Lexington County EMS arrived at the scene where they found Minor 1 lying next to a pack 'n play inside the residence. (App. p.184). Minor 1 was not breathing, had no pulse, and rigor mortis had set in. (App p.185). Petitioner, the father of Minor 1, and two other children were present at the scene. (App. p. 187–188; p.221). First responder from Lexington County Fire Department noted there was bruising to Minor 1's forehead. (App. p.190). EMS began patient care on Minor 1, including CPR. (App. pp.203–204). Minor 1 arrived at Lexington County Medical Center at 5:25 p.m. (App. p.205). Minor 1 exhibited no signs of life throughout that time. (App. p.205). First responder from EMS also described bruising to Minor 1's forehead. (App. p.210).

Petitioner was questioned by Detective Adam Creech ("Creech") at the Lexington County Medical Center. Petitioner made a statement initially blaming Minors 2 and 3 for the death of Minor 1. (App. pp.332–336; p.342). The coroner, Margaret Fisher ("Coroner") then arrived at the hospital while Petitioner was being questioned by Creech. (App. p.336). In her initial statement, Petitioner told Creech that Minor 1 appeared fine that day with no significant bruises present. (App. p.337, l.23–338, ll.1–12). Based on Minor 1's significant bruising and the improbability

those bruises could have been caused by Minor 2 and Minor 3, Petitioner became a suspect in this case. (App. pp.340–341).

Petitioner was then transported to the Lexington County Sherriff's Department where, following Mirandization, she freely and voluntarily made a statement to Creech and Sergeant Traci Barr ("Barr"). (App. p.123; 341). Petitioner then presented a new version of events in which Minor 1 suffered several accidental bumps to the head beginning on Thursday, June 24, 2016. (App. pp.353, 1.5–359, 1.25). Included in those accidents, was a purported fall that occurred at Petitioner's place of work, where Minor 1 fell out of a cigarette box and hit her head on the concrete. (App. p.367). After being asked why she did not tell law enforcement about these alleged incidents at the hospital, Petitioner responded "you had no reason to believe me because I lied." (App. p.367, ll. 9–20). After the conclusion of the interview, Petitioner was arrested. (App. p.369, ll.13–18).

Dr. Susan Luberoff ("Luberoff"), an expert in forensic pediatrics to include diagnosis and treatment of child abuse, was asked to consult in the investigation of this case. (App. p.579). Luberoff examined Minor 1's body and opined that "the bruises on this child's head represent a significant amount of trauma, a significant amount of force applied to that skin to cause a large area of crushing and torn blood vessels." (App. p. 585, ll.16–19). Luberoff also analyzed surveillance footage from Carolina Convenience store, Petitioner's employer, showing Minor 1's fall out of the cigarette box. As the footage was being published to the jury, Luberoff explained the fall out of the cigarette box was a very low velocity fall that was broken "by hitting the cushion of the chair before [Minor 1] hit the floor." (App. pp. 594, ll.1–6). Luberoff further opined there was no evidence of any injury to Minor 1 following the fall. (App. 594, ll. 18 – 595, 1.5).

Dr. Janice Ross, an expert in forensice pathology, conducted the autopsy of Minor 1. Dr. Ross concluded that Minor 1 died of blunt force injury of the head with the manner of death being

homicide. (App. 482, ll.9–19).

Petitioner testified in her own defense at trial. Petitioner explained she was working at the convenience store on June 25, 2016, when she heard Minor 1 fall out of the box Petitioner had placed her in while she worked. Petitioner noted Minor 1 was fine after the fall. (App. p.661). Petitioner testified that Richard Tuckus (“Richard”), Minor 1’s father, had keys to her trailer, and it was not unusual for him to come over without her knowledge. (App. pp.663–664). Petitioner testified she had problems obtaining assistance from Richard regarding the care of Minor 1. (App. p.668). On the day of Minor 1’s death, Petitioner testified she dozed off and, after waking up, she went to check on Minor 1. Petitioner testified she pulled Minor 1’s blanket back and noticed Minor 1’s “eyes were barely open and the bruising was really bad on her forehead.” (App. p. 680, ll. 11–16). Petitioner explained she did not see those bruises prior to checking on Minor 1. (App. p.682). Petitioner testified she did not know how Minor 1 suffered those injuries. (App. p.683).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact receive great deference during appellate review and will be upheld if "any evidence of probative value" exists in the record to support the lower court's findings. *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. *Id.*; *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR court correctly found that Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to call the coroner as a witness, where Counsel articulated a valid reason for not doing so, and Petitioner failed to meet her burden establishing prejudice by failing to call the coroner as a witness during the PCR evidentiary hearing.**

Petitioner alleges the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call the coroner as a witness. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to “assistance by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where, as in this case, a PCR Petitioner alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in *Strickland*: first, the Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “A court need not

first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 670. The Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application by a preponderance of the evidence. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814; Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC.

This Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari because the PCR court correctly found Counsel was not deficient for failing to call the coroner as a witness. Petitioner has failed to overcome the “strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in [her] case.” *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007) (citing *Strickland*). “[W]hen Counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Smith v. State*, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010). At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel explained he did not call Coroner as a witness because Counsel believed “when the coroner got up there she was going to fall in line with the other experts who testified.” (App. p.830). Counsel further explained Coroner “could easily explain why she originally called it accidental.” (App. p.830). Although Coroner initially ruled the death was an accident, Counsel explained he believed Coroner would disavow that finding and testify the cause of death was a homicide. This is a valid reason for not calling Coroner.

Petitioner contends this was an unreasonable strategy because Counsel could have elicited testimony from Coroner that she initially assessed the cause of death to be an accident. However, even if that is true, it is unknown what the entirety of Coroner’s testimony would have been at trial since Coroner was not called as a witness at the evidentiary hearing. If Counsel was correct and

Coroner would have modified her earlier finding of accident and testified that she now believed the cause of death was a homicide, the defense is then left with its own witness corroborating the testimony of both the State's experts. This is not beneficial testimony for the defense. Instead, Counsel reasonably cross-examined Detective Creech regarding the presence of Coroner during Petitioner's statements and argued in closing that the State did not call Coroner as a witness. (App. pp. 397–398; p. 409; p.723). This was clearly a strategy to intimate to the jury there is a potential witness who the State, for whatever reason, did not want to have testify. This is a reasonable strategic alternative to calling Coroner as a witness at trial. Because it is unknown how beneficial or damaging the testimony from Coroner would have been, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate it was unreasonable for Counsel not to call the coroner as a witness at trial.

Petitioner cites to *Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.C. 646 (2008) in support of her argument that Counsel was deficient for failing to call the coroner as a witness. The Court in *Lounds* found Counsel ineffective for failing to properly investigate the case which would have led to the discovery of witnesses who could have corroborated the defendant's version of events. *Lounds*, 380 S.C. at 463. The defense theory in *Lounds* was that the defendant and victim knew each other through drug dealing, yet the only evidence of this was from Lound's own testimony at trial. The court ruled that "if witnesses other than [Lounds] were willing to testify to this fact, certainly that would have added significantly to the credibility of [Lound's] case." *Id.* at 462.

This case is clearly distinguishable from *Lounds*. First, the petitioner in *Lounds* presented testimony from two witnesses his counsel allegedly failed to investigate at the PCR hearing, unlike Petitioner in this case. Second, the defense theory at Petitioner's trial was that somebody else did it. Petitioner's testimony on direct examination advanced the theory a third party killed Minor 1 while Petitioner was asleep. (App. pp.653—684). Unlike in *Lounds*, Coroner's purported

testimony that she initially ruled the cause of death an accident would not have corroborated Petitioner's testimony nor her defense theory at trial. At Petitioner's PCR hearing, Petitioner testified to the following:

Q. And did Mr. Williams present a defense on your behalf during trial?

A. Huh-huh.

Q. What was your defense that you wanted out there?

A. I wanted it known, like, I was not the last adult in the room with her before she died. The fact that - - just everything. Like there was never a defense, even, strategy talked about or anything.

Q. Who was the last adult with her when she died?

A. Richard.

Q. And who is Richard?

A. Her father

Q. And where were you when - - so obviously you weren't home at that time?

A. I was home, but I was in the other room. Our front door was in the children's bedroom. And Richard was the last one in there when he left that day, before I found [Minor 1].

Q. So Richard had been in the room with her?

A. Right.

Q. And then he leaves and they you find [Minor 1]?

A. A few hours later, yes.

(App. p.803-804).

Even at the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner contended she wanted it known she was not the last adult in the room. (App. pp.803-804). Clearly, Petitioner wanted Counsel to present a defense that Richard was the last one in the room with Minor 1 before she died, insinuating that he may

have been the one who killed Minor 1. Petitioner has not met her burden showing that further discussions with Counsel would have altered the defense strategy at trial since, even at the PCR evidentiary hearing stage, she still insisted she was not the last adult in the room implying a third party committed the homicide.

Furthermore, although Petitioner now contends Counsel should have argued an accident defense, “there are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984). “Even if there is reason to think that counsel’s conduct was far from exemplary, a court still may not grant relief, on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, if the record does not reveal that counsel took an approach that no competent lawyer would have chosen.” *Dunn v. Reeves*, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2410 (2021). Considering the substance of Petitioner’s testimony and the State’s evidence refuting an accident defense, Counsel arguing a third party may have committed the homicide was clearly not an approach no competent lawyer would have taken.

Luberoff testified that, in her expert opinion, Minor 1 suffered no apparent injury from the fall at the convenience store. (App. p.596, ll.11–14). Luberoff further testified to the following:

- Q. And that assault and resulting bruising there to the front of the forehead, the top of the head, the back of the head, do you an opinion as to whether or not those injuries were sustained simultaneously?
- A. Well, they weren’t simultaneous because they represent numerous strikes so it would have been one after another; so not all in the same moment, but they are all of approximately the same appearance as far as age and as far as amount of force and so on. And so in my opinion, these injuries all happened contemporaneous to one another, not some last night and some this afternoon or some two days ago. It was all in a concentrated time span.

(App. p.598–599).

Dr. Janice Ross testified the manner of Minor 1's death was homicide. Although Petitioner made statements to law enforcement indicating Minor 1 suffered multiple accidental bumps to the head in the days preceding Minor 1's death, the testimony of Dr. Susan Luberoff and Dr. Janice Ross thoroughly refuted an accident defense. Thus, Counsel was not deficient for failing to call the coroner to support a defense of accident.

Notwithstanding Counsel's lack of deficiency, Petitioner has failed to satisfy her burden of proving she was prejudiced for the same reason argued above—Petitioner failed to call the coroner as a witness at the PCR hearing and the State's evidence refuted an accident defense. Our courts have "repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial." *Bannister v. State*, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998). Petitioner asserts that the coroner's testimony was not required at the hearing, because Counsel testified the coroner initially determined Minor's 1 death to be an accident and this fact is not in question. However, it is purely speculative as to what Coroner would have testified to had she been subjected to full direct and cross-examination at trial. It is just as likely, or perhaps more likely, the entirety of the testimony from Coroner would have been damaging to Petitioner's defense, not beneficial.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals has ruled that a "coroner's testimony regarding cause of victim's death [that] was not based on coroner's perceptions or observations, as required by rule which governed lay opinion testimony... [is] inadmissible, where coroner's opinion was based on findings of pathologist and investigation of law enforcement." *State v. Westmoreland*, 421 S.C. 410, 807 S.E.2d 701. Because Coroner did not testify at Petitioner's post-conviction relief hearing, it is unknown what Coroner's opinion was based on. Depending on the substance of Coroner's

testimony, which does not exist, Coroner's testimony concerning the cause of Minor 1's death may not even have been admissible at trial pursuant to *Westmoreland*. All of this is pure speculation, which could have been cured had Petitioner called Coroner to testify at the PCR hearing—Petitioner did not. Furthermore, as noted above, the State's evidence in this case clearly refutes a defense of accident. Thus, Petitioner has failed to prove prejudice and, accordingly, certiorari should be denied.

[Conclusion and Signature Page to Follow]

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, as the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues raised.